TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY School of Business and Governance

Ksenija Akimova

# THE ROLE OF EMAIL MARKETING IN FUNDRAISING FOR ENVIRONMENTAL NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANISATIONS

Bachelor's thesis

Programme International Business Administration, specialisation Marketing

Supervisor: Merle Küttim

 $\setminus$ 

I hereby declare that I have compiled the thesis independently and all works, important standpoints and data by other authors have been properly referenced and the same paper has not been previously presented for grading.

The document length is 9150 words from the introduction to the end of the conclusion.

Ksenija Akimova 19.12.2023

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

INTRODUCTION	5
1. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	8
1.1. Theoretical models for studying email marketing	8
1.1.1. Advertising value model in the context of email marketing	8
1.1.2. Technology acceptance model in the context of email marketing	10
1.2. Email marketing	11
1.3. Non-governmental organisations	14
1.3.1. Environmental non-governmental organisations	15
1.3.2. Funding of non-governmental organisations	16
1.4. Email marketing in environmental non-governmental organizations	18
2. RESEARCH METHODS	20
2.1. Research design and sample description	20
2.2. Data collection and analysis	22
3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	25
3.1. Results and findings	25
3.1.1. Elements contributing to and hindering the effectiveness of email marketing fundraising efforts of ENGOs	in the 25
3.1.2. Ways for ENGOs to maximise the advantages of email marketing for fundrational statements of the statement of the state	ising27
3.2. Discussion and recommendations	29
CONCLUSION	32
LIST OF REFERENCES	35
APPENDICES	40

# ABSTRACT

This research aims to explore the role of email marketing in fundraising for ENGOs with a focus on elements that contribute to and hinder successful email marketing strategies and identify ways to maximize the effectiveness of email marketing under the scope of fundraising in ENGOs.

The research questions focus on identifying elements contributing to the effectiveness of email marketing in ENGOs' fundraising efforts as well as on the elements that can decrease its effectiveness and exploring ways to maximize the advantages that email marketing can provide. The theoretical frameworks used in this research are the advertising value model and the technology acceptance model. Employing a qualitative approach, in-depth online interviews were conducted with representatives and board members from six diverse ENGOs.

The findings offer a list of components necessary for email marketing effectiveness, including the effect of visual elements, the impact of personalized narratives, and the significance of influential calls to action. Additionally, the results provide information on what could negatively affect the success of email marketing such as not working attachments and complicated donation process. To maximize the effect, audience segmentation and simplifying the donation process are the key strategies for enhancing the impact of email marketing in ENGO fundraising initiatives.

Keywords: email marketing, fundraising, environmental non-governmental organisations.

# **INTRODUCTION**

Nowadays, environmental issues such as climate change, the loss of biodiversity, land degradation and water scarcity are of great importance to the population due to their drastic effect on humanity, the effect that has been rising in recent years (Robinson, 2023). These matters are being addressed by various institutions worldwide including a high number of environmental non-governmental organisations (ENGOs) (Willetts, 2009).

From a global perspective, ENGOs represent specific types of non-governmental organisations that target critical environmental challenges through a large number of actions and operations (Partelow et. al. 2020; Princen & Finger, 1994). Since such organisations fall within a non-profit category, they exist mainly with the support of society in terms of funding and human resources recruitment and do not have a distinguishable sole revenue stream like most for-profit business entities do (Cutlip, 1965; Jacinto Convit World Organization, 2022). Therefore, marketing plays a crucial role in the success and impact of non-governmental organisations by helping them effectively communicate their mission and values, attract human resources, and carry out the activities necessary for the completion of the main goal (Kumar & Kumar, 2014).

Over the last several years, the importance of email marketing has noticeably and comprehensively increased in the marketing field, predominantly caused by the swift transition towards digitalization and the overall growth in the global population of internet users (Hudak et al. 2017). The significance of email marketing can be attributed to its distinctive ability to engage with a diverse online audience, as well as its ability to establish the brand identity, increase brand awareness and generate revenue (Hudak et al. 2017; Thomas et al. 2022).

The knowledge gap in studies investigating the role of email marketing in fundraising for ENGOs represents a critical area of research deficiency within these fields. This gap leaves board members of ENGOs without the necessary and sufficient information to make well-informed decisions regarding whether to allocate resources to email marketing initiatives or

not. Multiple studies have been conducted regarding the usefulness of email marketing for various business entities in various commercial contexts (Hartemo, 2016; Smart & Cappel, 2003; Hudak et al. 2017), nevertheless, there exists a breach in studies connecting email marketing and the unique domain of ENGOs with their distinguishing features. This thesis research problem arises from the challenge faced by representatives of ENGOs in making thoughtful decisions concerning resource allocation and the effective utilization of email marketing in the scarcity of previous studies. Consequently, the research problem identified is the scarcity of information regarding the role of email marketing within the context of fundraising for ENGOs.

The aim of this research is to explore the role of email marketing in fundraising for ENGOs with a focus on elements that can contribute towards successful email marketing strategies as well as on the elements that have a negative impact on the success of email marketing. Further, the research conducted for this thesis analyses the most optimal ways of maximising the impact of email marketing.

Summarising and condensing the paragraphs above, the following research questions are formulated to fulfil the thesis aim:

RQ1: What are the elements that contribute to or hinder the effectiveness of email marketing in the fundraising efforts of ENGOs?

RQ2: What are the ways for ENGOs to maximise the advantages of email marketing for fundraising?

The research method chosen for this thesis is qualitative. Online interviews are conducted with the representatives and board members of a total number of six ENGOs to evaluate the role of email marketing and identify the key elements of a successful email marketing campaign. The selection of participating organisations employs a strategic sampling method, including organisations where the author has previously volunteered or worked, while also ensuring that the involved ENGOs have a prior record of utilising email marketing with the purpose of gathering financial contributions for their environmental initiatives.

The findings and results of this thesis will be beneficial for the marketing departments of ENGOs since understanding how email marketing campaigns can be optimised to maximise financial support for environmental causes is essential for the sustainability and prosperity of ENGOs. Hence, investigating and gaining knowledge on this issue is not only academically applicable but

is also vital for enhancing the impact and influence of ENGOs' actions and, therefore, facilitating a sustainable and environmentally safe future. Furthermore, the findings have the potential for application in various other NGOs, offering valuable insights into how email marketing can be utilized across different sectors.

My personal interest in this topic lies within my broad volunteering experience and personal solicitude for the sustainability and preservation of natural resources. Throughout the past three years, I have been employed by several NGOs to work in marketing departments and, therefore, have been personally involved in raising funds for diverse causes (for example, decreasing the damage after environmental disasters). Email marketing has been consistently chosen as a tool across multiple campaigns, employed to generate much-needed donations and establish meaningful connections with supporters and donors. Throughout my journey in NGOs, I have maintained a persistent curiosity, contemplating the reasonableness and long-term viability of such an approach, and this curiosity greatly contributed to and influenced the choice of the topic of this thesis.

The thesis consists of several chapters, each devotedly designed to deliver a comprehensive explanation of the designated subject. The structure of the thesis is summarised as follows. First, a theoretical framework is introduced. This chapter acts as the base upon which the entire research is going to be built. Key areas of focus include an in-depth description of two theoretical models - the advertising value model and the technology acceptance model, a detailed explanation of the email marketing concept with a breakdown of email marketing metrics, as well as an overview of non-governmental organizations along with their characteristic features, ENGOs and the complexity of their funding instruments. The next chapter, called "Research and Data Analysis", is devoted to explaining the methodological approach to the research. It presents a systematic explanation of the research design, the rationale behind the chosen methodology, and the process of the data collection. Following it, the results and findings part addresses the research questions presented at the beginning of the thesis. A presentation and interpretation of the results, along with any other meaningful discoveries and practical recommendations are provided. Summarising it all up, the conclusion and recommendations for future research are presented, briefly enclosing the core insights from the study.

# **1. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK**

The concept of email marketing, along with its metrics, tools, and strategies, is expounded upon in this theoretical framework chapter. The theory of the advertising value model and the technology acceptance model and their connection to the aforementioned topics are also thoroughly examined. Furthermore, an overview of ENGOs is provided, with a comprehensive explanation of their promotional and funding concepts and how they interrelate with the realm of email marketing.

#### 1.1. Theoretical models for studying email marketing

This thesis employs two theoretical frameworks, the advertising value model and the technology acceptance model, to gain an understanding of the role that email marketing plays in fundraising for ENGOs from the perspective of service providers.

#### 1.1.1. Advertising value model in the context of email marketing

To comprehensively evaluate the role of email marketing in fundraising for ENGOs, it is crucial to explore the factors that ENGO representatives could focus on capturing recipients' attention, subsequently inspiring them to contribute to donations. For this reason, an advertising value model can provide a better understanding of the principles lying behind this process (Ducoffe, 1995; Gangadharbatla & Daugherty, 2013; Murillo et al., 2016).

The advertising value model is used for a process of evaluation of the worth or utility of advertising for consumers and includes three initial components of perceived value: informativeness, entertainment, and irritation (Ducoffe, 1995). In subsequent research studies, an additional factor was presented, the concept of credibility was introduced and examined by Brackett and Carr (2001) and Gaber and Wright (2014).

Firstly, each advertisement, and in the case of this thesis - each sent email, is supposed to have an informative aspect that is correspondingly relevant to the current period of time and

circumstances (Murillo et al., 2016). Furthermore, it was emphasised that perceived informativeness is connected to the overall value of the advertising, indicating that the greater the amount of valuable to the recipient information contained in the advertisement, the more likely it is that the recipient will retain and value it (Ducoffe, 1995; Gangadharbatla & Daugherty, 2013).

Secondly, entertainment plays a crucial role in the model since it is an attribute that brings forward positive feelings and allows the building of a meaningful and favourable association with the sender or initiator of the advertisement (Gangadharbatla & Daugherty, 2013; Murillo et al., 2016; Shimp, 1981). This value is frequently employed to provide recipients with a sense of aesthetic enjoyment, a means of escapism, a source of diversion, or even help with emotional release (Hussain et al., 2022; Martins et al., 2019).

In contrast to the previous two positive indicators, the next one - irritation, on the other hand, provokes feelings of annoyance and negatively influences the perceived value of advertisement (Gangadharbatla & Daugherty, 2013). In particular, the feeling of irritation could be caused by the extensive amount of ads (in the case of this thesis - by a large number of emails) (Murillo et al., 2016) or by the perceived deceptiveness and dishonesty (Ducoffe, 1995; Gangadharbatla & Daugherty, 2013).

Credibility has also been added to the initial Ducoffe (1995) model and is considered to be the other key factor attributing to the advertising value (Aydoğan et al., 2016; Brackett and Carr, 2001). It holds influential significance in shaping the recipients' perception and the information included in the advertisement must always be considered and carefully checked by the originator of the advertising or email campaign (Aydoğan et al., 2016).

Summing everything up, Aydoğan et al. (2016) conducted research that highlights the essential considerations in planning a successful web advertisement campaign. According to their findings, credibility and informativeness emerge as the main aspects to be prioritised, given their significant impact on the recipient. It is crucial to recognise that alongside these factors, the element of irritation should not be underestimated in the planning process as well. On the contrary, it has been found that the impact of entertainment on perception is not as significant as that of other factors (credibility and informativeness).

In the context of this thesis, the advertising value model serves as a foundational concept shaping the structure of the interview questions. Implicitly incorporated into the questions, the objective of the interviews contained an investigation of the marketing representatives' awareness and recognition of any observable impact originating from the aforementioned factors such as informativeness, credibility, entertainment, or irritability on the overall performance of emails.

#### 1.1.2. Technology acceptance model in the context of email marketing

Continuing with the theoretical framework for this thesis research, another key concept comes forward - the technology acceptance model (TAM) (Davis, 1986). This model, just like the previous one, supports the formulation of the interview questions, indirectly trying to expand an understanding of the influential factors on the role of email marketing utilisation in ENGOs as this framework traditionally acts as a base for understanding user behaviour toward technology.

In 1985, Fred Davis introduced the inception of the technology acceptance model, marking a significant milestone in the understanding of how individuals embrace and feel about technology. Afterwards, a series of modifications and additions were proposed and implemented, however, it is worth noting that all those modifications revolved around and were grounded on an initially defined set of attributes and elements (Davis, 1986; Marangunić & Granić, 2015).

The conceptual framework of TAM relies on a series of attributes that eventually have an impact on the practical utilisation of the system (Davis, 1986; Marangunić & Granić, 2015). It is crucial to also highlight the fact that each of these attributes (which will be explained in the following paragraphs) plays a key role in shaping the user's initial motivation and attitude towards using the technology (Davis, 1989; Marangunić & Granić, 2015), which on its end ultimately exercises a significant impact on the overall utilisation of the system.

The aforementioned attributes are the following:

- Perceived ease of use is defined as the extent to which the person considers that using the particular system would be effortless (Marangunić & Granić, 2015; Sharp, 2007).
- Perceived usefulness is defined as the degree to which the person assumes that using the particular system would enhance their job performance which impacts the overall intention of utilisation of the system (Davis, 1989; Marangunić & Granić, 2015; Sharp, 2007).

Summarising the technology acceptance model, it is crucial to underscore its importance as a key tool for comprehending the recipients' tendency towards acceptance or rejection of the technology (Marangunić & Granić, 2015). Considering the direct impact of TAM on the user's motivation, taking into account the aspects of this model could potentially shape and influence the willingness of audiences to actively contribute to the fundraising of ENGOs, which is why when conducting a marketing campaign this theoretical model should not be overlooked (Marangunić & Granić, 2015). There exist several research papers that have used TAM to evaluate the success of email marketing under different circumstances, such as gender differences in perception of emails (Gefen & Straub, 1997), the influence of culture on email recipients (Huang et. al., 2003), the effect of user-friendly email notification interface (Serenko, 2008) and so on. By employing the concept of TAM, valuable insights are gained into the likelihood, or lack of it, of recipients opening and engaging with the email. (Gefen & Straub, 1997).

This excess of research works highlights the relevance and utility of the TAM within the field of email marketing, setting it as a powerful theoretical framework for understanding user behaviour. Nevertheless, an exploration of existing literature reveals a notable absence of prior research incorporating the TAM within the field of ENGOs. Within the context of this thesis, this user-centric model plays a vital role in understanding the willingness of ENGO email receivers to actively engage and contribute to the fundraising activities of ENGOs.

#### 1.2. Email marketing

In the past years, there has been a significant increase in the number of digital users all around the globe, more than doubling the amount of users between the years of 2013 and 2023 (Statista, 2023a). According to the prediction made by the Radicati Group (2022), it is anticipated that the global community of email users will continue its expansion, with an estimated growth rate of 12% by the year 2026.

With the abovementioned increase in the global digital domain and the expansion of the amount of email users, the popularity of electronic marketing, commonly referred to as e-marketing, has correspondingly been increasing (Dsouza & Panakaje, 2023). E-marketing comprises a scope of marketing activities and strategies that use the online realm to effectively connect with and

engage their target audiences (Jasper, 2022). This involves the utilisation of various digital channels and platforms to promote products, services, or brands, harnessing the potential of the internet to establish a noteworthy presence in the digital world and adjust to the evolving preferences and needs of consumers in the online space (Jasper, 2022).

Given that e-marketing operates within the digital field, it can be divided into various subtypes, each taking a distinguishable role in online promotion. These subtypes include social media marketing, email marketing, video advertising, affiliate marketing, content marketing, search engine optimization, and so on (Gustavsen, 2023). This thesis focuses on and gives a detailed overview of one of the abovementioned subtypes - email marketing.

According to the definition provided by Hudak et al. (2017), email marketing is a strategic and focused process implicating the intentional dissemination of commercial and non-commercial messages. When delving into the realm of email marketing, there are three components that are actively involved and can be recognized (Thomas et. al., 2022):

- First, there is the originator of the communication, typically represented by entities such as business corporations or non-profit organisations. The sender plays a crucial role in shaping the style, tone, credibility, and overall impact of the message transmitted.
- Secondly, the message itself is of great importance to any email marketing campaign. It displays carefully composed content, typically containing persuasive language, influential visual materials, and strategic calls to action.
- Last but not least, is the recipient—the intentional audience that receives the email. This can potentially encompass a diverse list of individuals or groups, ranging from existing customers and subscribed followers to investors and other stakeholders.

In accordance with data from Statista (2023b), it has been observed that companies worldwide employing email marketing strategies have generated a revenue of 9.62 billion US dollars throughout the year 2022. By the year 2027, it is anticipated that this number will escalate and reach its projection of 17.9 billion. These significant numerical values only once again highlight the significance of leveraging email marketing as a strategic approach to advertising and delivering messages, while also demonstrating its expansive potential.

Numerous research endeavours have focused on the efficacy of email marketing for various entities (Hudak et al., 2017; Thomas et al., 2022; Paramo et al., 2021). While the majority of such research has established email marketing to be a highly effective way of conveying a message, it has also been found that not all emails sent achieve the desired outcome and there is a possibility of such emails ending up in the spam or junk folder (Thomas et al., 2022; Statista, 2023).

According to the research undertaken by Hudak et al. (2017), a pivotal factor contributing to the success of an email marketing campaign lies in the accurate indication of the desired outcomes. Before starting any email campaign, it is necessary to identify its main goals which would depend heavily on the type of sender's business entity and could range from informing customers about new products/services and offering discounts to raising awareness on certain issues and/or calling for help and support (Thomas et al., 2022).

Expanding on the aforementioned findings, Bolos et al. (2016) underlined the nature of email marketing strategies, highlighting that a strategy demonstrated effective in one campaign might not necessarily produce the same results in another. Furthermore, the research emphasises the lack of universally applicable benchmark metrics for evaluating the effectiveness of email marketing across various strategies, however, the study identifies specific indicators that can be considered relevant and effectively employed to measure success to a certain extent.

#### **Email marketing metrics**

Email marketing uses several metrics that allow its users to establish its success and measure to which level the goals set have been accomplished. At the front line of the email performance metrics stands the open rate metric. The calculation of this metric is a simple division: the number of emails sent is divided by the number of emails that recipients have opened. It offers a quantitative overview of the engagement levels with the audience and showcases how the audience acts at the glimpse of seeing the title of the email and the name of the entity of the sender (Paramo et al., 2021).

Moving forward in the breakdown of the metrics, the email performance can be evaluated by examining the click-through rate (CTR). The CTR is a numerical representation of the frequency with which receivers click on various links inserted in the email. This metric provides valuable

insights by highlighting the specific parts of the email that capture recipients' attention and encourage them to take action (Paramo et al., 2021).

Finally, there exists another crucial metric, one that holds particular importance for senders—the conversion rate. It indicates the proportion of recipients who took a specific desired action in response to the email to the total number of the audience (Paramo et al., 2021). The desired action needs to be determined at the planning stage of the email marketing campaign and can involve buying the offered product/service, filling in the survey form, purchasing a subscription (Scott, 2022) or in case that is overviewed in this thesis - making a donation.

#### **1.3.** Non-governmental organisations

Non-governmental organisations (NGOs) operate as independent entities, separate from governmental or for-profit entities, quite often taking on the function of an intermediary party between individuals, various communities, and governments (Betsill & Corell, 2008). As identified and summarised by Abiddin (2022), there are several distinct characteristics that distinguish such establishments from others:

- It must have a formal and official registration as an NGO under a chosen and applied jurisdiction.
- It should function as an independent entity, separate from government control.
- Its primary mission should not be profit generation.
- It should be self-governing and privately managed.
- It should refrain from engaging in political or religious activities, such as taking part in elections or promoting explicit religious beliefs.
- It should operate voluntarily and rely on the support and involvement of volunteers.

The operations of a non-governmental organisation consist of a broad spectrum of activities, varying from executing research studies and raising awareness of certain issues to providing services directly to those in need and implementing advocacy campaigns (Boris & Steuerle, 2006). Since one of the main characteristics is being non-profit, NGOs generally rely on multiple funding sources such as grants, donations, subscriptions and sales of merchandise (Mount, 2022).

While there is an ongoing dispute within the academic and professional domains regarding the categorization of non-governmental organisations (NGOs), the Indeed Editorial Team (2022) identified two major factors to cluster non-governmental organisations: based on level of operations and based on orientation. The level of operations represents the geographical extent of the operations of a specific NGO, which can range from local and city-wide to national and international in scale. The orientation encompasses the objectives of the activities and operations performed by an NGO, which may include empowerment, charity, service provision, and various other types.

Nevertheless, this thesis concentrates on a distinct category of non-governmental organisations, which, due to their vast diversity and administrative complexity, do not fall easily within the classification of any of the previously mentioned types. These organisations are called Environmental NGOs.

#### 1.3.1. Environmental non-governmental organisations

Nowadays, the world is facing a lot of environmental issues and various establishments are trying to come up with solutions to battle the environmental challenges (Robinson, 2023). ENGOs comprise a distinctive category of non-profit organisations dedicated to addressing complex environmental issues, mitigating the consequences of natural catastrophes, cultivating public awareness regarding diverse sustainability concerns, reducing the harmful impacts of human activities on the biosphere, and safeguarding Earth's natural resources (Berny & Rootes, 2018, Willetts, 2009).

The first establishment of ENGOs traces back to the 19th century, marking the early attempts to address environmental concerns (Partelow et al., 2020). However, a global significant spike in such establishments occurred notably around the late years of 1980 (Ibid, 2020). This wave can be attributed to the growing awareness and acknowledgement of pressing global environmental issues. Nowadays, the amount of ENGOs continues to grow with a significant concentration of ENGOs situated within the geographical expanse of Europe, constituting approximately 33% of the total global count of such organizations (Ibid, 2020). It becomes evident that Europe acts as a hub for these environmental entities, contributing greatly to the collaborative efforts aimed at addressing local and global environmental challenges.

Besides the unique characteristics of all NGOs mentioned in the previous part, ENGOs can also be differentiated by their discourses that highlight their fundamental role in addressing diverse environmental issues. Based on the findings provided by Partelow et al. (2020), it's essential to note that these discourses don't exclusively prevail as an individual aspect in isolation. More frequently, they intertwine and contain a scope of discourses, consisting of the following:

- Environmental management (dealing with past and present biosphere).
- Climate politics (advocating for sustainability).
- Environmental justice (ensuring equality of rights).
- Ecological modernization (innovation for a future change).

Within the concept of ENGOs, the human resources component is undeniably essential, with a median of 17 employees forming the median within each organisation globally (Partelow et al., 2020). However, in certain instances, the established organizations may even find themselves constrained by a membership enrollment that consists of no more than only two individuals (Partelow et al., 2020).

The members of ENGOs make a significant contribution to the organisational work, collectively navigating the initiatives aimed at environmental causes. Depending on the size of the ENGO, individuals may find themselves taking various positions that could even entail several roles across various fields. These roles vary from executive management to positions within functional departments, containing areas like marketing, finance, administration, project management, capacity building, and more (JR compliance, 2023).

#### 1.3.2. Funding of non-governmental organisations

Given that one of the primary characteristics of ENGOs is their non-commercial nature (Cutlip, 1965; Jacinto Convit World Organization, 2022), securing a sufficient budget appears to be a noteworthy challenge within this sector (Amagoh, 2015). Generally, all NGOs maintain their financial assets through a diverse array of sources (Guillory, 2023). These contain grants obtained from corporations and governments, typically involving having to compete with other NGOs during the application round. Fundraising initiatives correspondingly play a key role in mobilising society engagement and gathering monetary donations. The private sector can contribute greatly through individual donations, while memberships also offer another way of gathering funds. By charging fees to regular NGO members, organisations in exchange provide

exclusive benefits for their associates. Corporate sponsorships are the other ways of providing financial support, with businesses aligning their brands' values with NGOs' causes. Additionally, NGOs may explore the possibility of business loans to reinforce their financial stability and follow their mission.

When speaking about ENGOs, there exists no specific distinction in the methods of funding, meaning that all above mentioned methods are also applicable and can be utilized by organizations. However, it is worth mentioning the prevalence of a diverse array of international grants that are available for allocation to ENGOs, for example, those of the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) or the European Union (EU) Commission. Moreover, the EU Commission's official website (https://commission.europa.eu/funding-tenders/find-funding\_en) serves as a comprehensive database of country-specific information providing support regarding funding opportunities and the application procedures for local ENGOs.

Additionally, it is worth highlighting various fundraising platforms that provide assistance in fundraising various projects of ENGOs. These specialized fundraising websites serve as channels connecting donors to organizations, facilitating the pooling of funds that directly contribute to the realization of specific environmental goals undertaken by ENGOs. An illustrative instance can be represented by a "Why Donate" website (https://whydonate.com/en/), serving as a platform where a diverse array of fundraising campaigns are featured and easily accessible to potential donors. Such platforms prove to be very advantageous for potential donors, offering a user-friendly interface that empowers them to navigate through a variety of fundraising campaigns. One notable feature is the ability to sort and filter fundraisers based on specific causes or geographical locations. This not only enhances the efficiency of the donation process but also ensures that donors can align their contributions with causes that resonate most deeply with their own values and interests.

This thesis focuses on one of the aforementioned aspects—fundraising—recognising the particular importance of this method due to its connection with diverse marketing activities and its involvement in generating publicity (Guillory, 2023). This research aims to explain the relationship between email marketing and fundraising efforts, highlighting the interconnections between these two elements in the field of organisational promotion.

#### 1.4. Email marketing in environmental non-governmental organizations

Taking into consideration the above mentioned information, it becomes evident that email marketing and ENGOs are two domains that need to be investigated in combination. There exists a lot of previous research on how email marketing is utilized by various business entities and whether it is effective for them or not (Hartemo, 2016; Smart & Cappel, 2003; Hudak et al. 2017). Unlike business entities offering tangible products or services, ENGOs must actively pursue and pinpoint initiatives that captivate the interest and attention of their audience, given that they do not naturally provide a product or service in high demand.

Upon the examination of past email marketing campaigns undertaken by diverse ENGOs, coupled with a detailed analysis of data derived from platforms dedicated to supporting email initiatives, a noticeable tendency was identified. It was evident that, as a standard practice, ENGOs often incorporate elements such as personal narratives, extensive plans outlining fund allocation, and explicit representation of their vision and mission statements within their email campaigns (Weinger, 2023; Diduh, 2023). Moreover, in the field of fundraising campaigns, there are some additional components that can enhance overall appeal and engagement. These may encompass the inclusion of event invitations, explanations regarding bonuses and incentives for significant contributors, as well as the integration of visually stimulating elements such as videos or pictures (Diduh, 2023). Additionally, it is significant to stress the diverse array of freely available email templates online. These templates can enhance the visual appeal and effectiveness of fundraising emails, catering to the preferences and engagement of potential donors (Weinger, 2023). By leveraging these templates, organizations can prepare compelling and aesthetically pleasing messages, ultimately contributing to the success of their fundraising campaigns.

Many NGOs may find themselves at a crossroads when it comes to resource allocation, with email marketing activities not always taking importance in their initial priorities (Wisetsri et al., 2021). The hesitation to invest in the creation of a specific marketing strategy often arises from a careful evaluation of potential benefits in comparison to other pressing needs within the organization. Despite this initial hesitation, it is crucial for members of these organizations to recognize the power of e-marketing as a tool that holds the guarantee of producing significant advantages (Wisetsri et al., 2021). By understanding the unique capabilities and outreach

potential of email marketing, ENGOs can unlock a lot of benefits that contribute to their overall success and impact (Kumar & Kumar, 2014).

Finally, it is important to highlight that there has been no prior research devoted to researching the potential relationship between email marketing strategies and the fundraising activities of ENGOs. This gap in the academic literature presents a clear opportunity for future research works to delve into this topic, looking for correlations on the impact and efficacy of email marketing within the specific context of ENGOs' objectives to get financial support.

## **2. RESEARCH METHODS**

In the following section, a comprehensive explanation of the research design is provided, offering details regarding the chosen methodology employed in this thesis. Firstly, a thorough description of the research design is given, together with the rationale behind it and the sampling method used. Next, a data collection process is presented, providing a detailed overview of the procedure. And last but not least, a detailed examination of the analysis methods applied to examine the collected data is presented.

#### 2.1. Research design and sample description

For the purpose of conducting this research, a qualitative data analysis approach was selected, employing the methodology of in-depth semi-structured interviews as the primary method for gathering insightful data. In contrast to other data collection approaches, in-depth interviews offer the unique advantage of establishing a connection with interviewees in a comfortable environment (Boyce & Neale, 2006). This relational aspect allows the creation of a meaningful bond, facilitating a more profound exploration of the research topic and a nuanced understanding of the subject (Showkat & Parveen, 2017). Furthermore, interview participants have the ability to express themselves and engage in more open discussions on the subject when contrasted with a focus group (Showkat & Parveen, 2017). Nevertheless, it is crucial to take into account the limitations associated with this approach, as it is susceptible to bias and lacks generalizability due to its limited sample size (Boyce & Neale, 2006).

In order to collect a sufficient number of responses, a strategic sampling method was employed. The strategic sampling specifically targeted organisations with which the author had previously established collaborations and/or volunteered, cultivating a familiarity that could potentially facilitate a more open and profound exchange of information. However, as circumstances evolved, a significant portion of the familiar ENGOs found themselves unable to participate. Therefore, the author conducted the majority of interviews with organizations that were previously unknown. The other criteria for the selection of participating ENGOs were regarding

their level of operations - the chosen organisations are operating on the local level, meaning that their target groups and scope of activities are located within their country's borders. Moreover, every environmental non-governmental organisation that was interviewed is both established and currently operating within European countries. The invitations to take part in the research have been distributed via emails to a number of selected ENGOs.

Within the framework of this thesis, a diverse range of representatives from ENGOs were interviewed, irrespective of their specific positions. Such an approach was encouraged by the recognition that the responsibilities associated with email marketing may be distributed differently within each organisation, particularly in cases where budgetary constraints do not allow the hiring of dedicated personnel for this purpose. Table 1 provides information about all interviewed people, as well as their positions in ENGOs, country, and main areas of activities.

ENGO's number	Position of the interviewee	Country	Year of establish ment	Main areas of activity
ENGO 1	Volunteer	Hungary	2009	Saving recyclable waste from being sent to waste processing plants, educating the population about recycling, and raising awareness about recycling processes
ENGO 2	Project Manager	Malta	2022	Building an eco-friendly space for youth, educating people on sustainability
ENGO 3	Project Manager	Malta	2020	Raising funds for different projects, educating youth, raising awareness on the environmental constraints and issues
ENGO 4	Erasmus+ project manager	Italy	2015	Raising awareness about environmental sustainability and permaculture, promoting intercultural learning, providing inclusive learning opportunities

Table 1. List of participating ENGOs.

ENGO 5	Volunteer	Lithuania	2017	Promoting sustainable recycling and upcycling practices, cleaning local areas, raising awareness on the climate change issues
ENGO 6	President	Spain	2019	Promote values such as democracy, solidarity, cooperation and teamwork among young people.

Source: Prepared by the author

### 2.2. Data collection and analysis

The necessary data to answer the research questions was collected by using semi-structured online interviews, due to this method providing a better and deeper understanding of the subject while also taking into account the limitations of resources (Showkat & Parveen, 2017).

Due to employing semi-structured in-depth interviews as the chosen research method, the interview preparation was done to enhance the quality and depth of data collection which involved the formulation of a set of seventeen open-ended questions in advance of the actual interview sessions (Adams & Cox, 2008). The questions were designed to cover a spectrum of topics and aspects related to ENGOs and email marketing under this thesis research. Furthermore, a strategic organization of these questions was implemented, grouping the questions in a certain way (Showkat & Parveen, 2017). The first way involved categorizing the questions into distinct sections, with section A focusing on gathering general information about the ENGO and section B discussing the utilization of email marketing. The other way of grouping the questions specifically focused on questions within section B. Within this set, a noticeable connection was present, linking particular questions to a specific theoretical model utilized in this thesis — Technology Acceptance Model or the Advertising Value Model. This differentiation and sectioning allowed for a more precise data collection and analysis, helping to identify the findings and links while also focusing on the theoretical frameworks guiding this research (Showkat & Parveen, 2017). The different interview sections were also linked to the three research questions of the thesis.

Throughout the months of November and December 2023, a total number of six interviews were conducted, engaging representatives and board members from various environmental organisations as recorded in Appendix 1. These interviews, each lasting approximately forty minutes, were executed through Google Meet. The language of communication during these interviews was English, and to guarantee accuracy and documentation, transcriptions were generated using the transcription extension tool within the Google Meet system. A detailed record of these transcriptions is provided in Appendix 3.

The collected primary data was analysed by using an approach developed by Creswell (2013) that combines the following steps, assisting in reaching the goal of the research:

- 1. Preparation and organisation of the collected data (transcription)
- 2. Reading through all collected data
- 3. Coding the data by categories
- 4. Observing and creating connections between the given categories
- 5. Analysing the established connections
- 6. Interpreting findings and results

In the first two stages of the process, the author utilised the transcription extension tool in Google Meet. It is important to mention that the data underwent a revision by the author, aimed at mitigating grammatical mistakes and avoiding redundancies, which ensured a polished and refined list of transcriptions. Following a thorough review of the accessible data, distinguishable similarities among various patterns were identified and each pattern was given a code. Furthermore, the process of identifying those similar patterns was facilitated by the previously done attribution of specific theoretical models to the posed interview questions. These identified codes were then systematically grouped together, and each resulting in a cluster of information regarding a specific theme discussed during the interview. Table 2 represents an example of the interview quotes, given codes and the assigned themes.

Table 2. Examples of quotes, codes and themes derived from the interviews.

Examples of interview quotes	Codes	Themes
"We send regular newsletters once or twice a month with all updates and information on current fundraisers." (Int_3) "The NGO does not have a permanent email marketing	Marketing Strategy	Strategies of ENGOs

strategy because the central platform for communication and promotion is Facebook." (Int_1)		
"Gather funds for some equipment or to pay for the people we hire to help us build our eco-friendly space." (Int_2) "Updating people on what we do, gathering funds and also we are trying to increase awareness about our organization." (Int_3)	Goals to achieve through email marketing	
"Only, when the organization is in need of financial support but not on a constant reoccurring basis." (Int_1) "We send emails every week, once a month in the emails we mention fundraising." (Int_2)	Frequency	Elements contributing to effectiveness
"Large database of people who attended our events and of companies with whom we collaborated, so we send emails to all those people." (Int_3) "We want to restructure the database and group people based on interests etc., to make sure we reach the people who are actually interested in the certain topic." (Int_2)	Audience	of email marketing
"We use the same template for the emails so that it is easier and quicker to update the information." (Int_2) "Always pictures, sometimes links to the videos or personal stories and some information about where the money would go." (Int_3)	Content	
"It took some time to learn the whole process of creating a visually appealing email but we tested it out a few times to ensure that everything looked as we wanted." (Int_2) "The first attachment to the email did not work, so we had to resend the emails." (Int_1)	Technological aspect	Ways to maximize effectiveness of email marketing
"It is difficult to allocate time and find people who would be willing to track the performance of emails sent, so we do not know much about our audience actually opening emails or not." (Int_1) "We usually track the sump sum of our fundraisers, to see which one needs more promotion. Occasionally, we would roughly estimate from where we received the most donations and try to use this method more next time." (Int_1)	Performance	

Source: Prepared by the author

Following the identification of the themes, each one was subsequently linked to the research question. The conclusion of the data analyses involved drawing results from a thorough analysis of these themes in relation to the research question.

# **3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

In this chapter, the findings derived from the research conducted in this thesis are delved in. The study extends and examines the elaborate connections between the posed research questions and the comprehensive dataset collected during the interviews. In addition, a discussion of the results and practical recommendations are provided in this chapter.

#### 3.1. Results and findings

In this subchapter, the outcomes of the study are presented in a way that systematically addresses each research question separately, ensuring a comprehensive explanation and detailed interview responses to each question.

# **3.1.1. Elements contributing to and hindering the effectiveness of email marketing in the fundraising efforts of ENGOs**

The first research question related to the elements that could contribute to the effectiveness of email marketing in the fundraising efforts of ENGOs revealed that visual elements and personal stories are rather effective in attracting the audience's attention. During one of the interviews, it was stated that one of the most useful elements is " a small introduction written in first person or pictures of faces of staff members of our organisation, so it is like the interaction with a real person and it helps to build a better connection" (Int\_4). Some other key elements contained involving content with comparisons of past and present to showcase the importance of people's donations and the detailed breakdown of how the gathered funds are planned to be allocated. These components collectively played an important role in engaging recipients and encouraging a sense of connection with the organisation's mission. Regarding the second part of the first research question, which was identifying the elements that could disrupt the effectiveness of email marketing in the context of ENGOs, it appeared that not working attachments or misplaced links to donation pages could seriously confuse the recipients. Sending the same email to the

entire database is also not effective since it does not allow to properly grasp the interest of the audience and build a connection, which usually results in an increased amount of unsubscriptions. Having only one database with no segmentation is common in ENGOs and when starting to utilize email marketing, ENGOs can face the issue of a large number of unsubscriptions as it has been discussed during one of the interviews "in the very beginning, we just used the general database of the emails in our organization and of course there were a lot of people who were no longer interested in the topic" (Int 2).

Among other recurrent features that turned out to be beneficial are visual assets such as videos, the inclusion of personal stories and the integration of a persuasive call to action. Some ENGOs also personalised their emails based on the recipient, separating the individuals from business entities, specifically targeting companies to invite them to help with fundraising activities to improve their CSR (corporate social responsibility) goals.

Throughout the course of the interviews, an additional trend emerged regarding the practices of creating the emails. It was observed that the ENGOs primarily focus on improving the visual appeal and aesthetic quality of their email communications. Several representatives stated that they were trying to " make the emails look more "pretty" and make them stand out from the rest" (Int\_3) by using templates available online. When designing the email, the organizations aim to align their emails with established branding guidelines, ensuring the coherence of the chosen fonts and colour schemes.

The utilisation of online tools for email designs appeared as the other recurrent topic within the interviews. It was observed ENGOs predominantly favour platforms offering free access, using such websites and tools not only for designing emails but also for monitoring their performance. The website that occurred to be the most commonly utilized platform was MailChimp (https://mailchimp.com/) as it is "great for beginners and really easy to understand" (Int\_4). This platform stands out due to its free design-building tools, enabling users to create and design content easily without needing graphic design knowledge. Moreover, MailChimp also provides statistical insights where users can track and analyze various metrics, gaining valuable data on the performance of their email marketing campaigns.

While it was observed that many ENGOs commonly employed free online tools that additionally offer statistical insights, not every ENGO used this practice. Another noteworthy similarity that

emerged is related to the monitoring of email marketing and fundraising performances. A common challenge identified in this context is the limited capacity and resources available to these organizations for extensive statistical tracking. Within the ENGO landscape, it was stated by several organizations that "primarily the method of tracking is simply monitoring lump sums of raised funds" (Int\_1). This approach involves assessing the overall fundraising figures to determine which specific fundraisers might require additional promotional actions without actually properly measuring the effect and success of each fundraising activity.

Moreover, in the course of various interviews, it appeared that numerous representatives faced challenges in email marketing due to technological issues. Notably, two interviewees discussed specific issues related to links and attachments. One recounted, "The first attachment to the email did not work, so we had to resend the emails." (Int\_1). Another interviewee shared a similar experience, stating, "The link to register for one of the events was not working at all and we found out about it only later." (Int\_3). Both interviewees also underscored the significance of addressing and mitigating technological issues to ensure a smooth user experience for potential donors.

#### 3.1.2. Ways for ENGOs to maximise the advantages of email marketing for fundraising

In response to the question of ways for ENGOs to maximize the advantages of email marketing for fundraising, the findings underscored the importance of user-friendly interfaces of donating pages on websites and the easiness of the process for potential donors. The familiarity with the mechanism is very important and for fundraising, ENGOs are putting effort in simplifying it by having "one page on the website with different payment options, so it is a pretty simple process, similar to buying stuff online" (Int\_5). The majority of interviewees highlighted the importance of the clarity of the entire donation procedure, ensuring that individuals do not encounter unnecessary online limitations when contributing financially. It was underscored that the donation-related emails and corresponding web pages must display a clean and user-friendly design, enabling easy navigation and eliminating any potential confusion. The goal is to create an environment that not only simplifies the process but also enhances user experience, ultimately increasing the willingness of individuals to make contributions to the environmental cause.

Another strategic approach to enhance the efficiency of fundraising efforts involved the implementation of audience segmentation, where distinct segments within the target audience

were identified and precisely catered to through the customization of email content. For example, some ENGOs divided their audience between individuals and companies and addressed the companies with "another email, with similar information but more targeted to invite them to improve their CSR (corporate social responsibility)" (Int\_3). This finding acknowledges that a one-size-fits-all approach may not effectively capture the attention and support of a diverse donor base. The creation of unique content ensures that the messaging is not only compelling but also aligns closely with the values and concerns of the targeted audience, fostering a deeper connection between the organization and its supporters, and therefore generating more donations.

The question that prompted the most discussion during interviews was "If another ENGO was about to start an email marketing campaign for fundraising, what advice would you give to the marketing representatives of this ENGO?". One frequent recommendation that occurred was the suggestion to "review the provided links multiple times, ensuring their accuracy and functionality" (Int\_1). Additionally, there was a consensus on the importance of optimizing the digital donation process, ensuring its functionality and clarity for users. Another commonly given recommendation emphasized the importance of strategically grouping the audience and implementing the targeted outreach strategies. This idea included tailoring the content of the email in such a way that it would resonate with the recipient, creating a more personalized and impactful communication. And last but not least, the effective utilization of email marketing relies on conscious and thoughtful resource allocation. The emphasis was placed on the importance of flexibility in both content creation and strategic approaches, aiming for adaptability and a responsive approach to the dynamics of specific ENGO's email marketing.

#### Other findings

Regarding the other findings that occurred during the research, it was identified that ENGOs usually do not have a strategy but rather simply utilise email marketing when the need arises, while keeping in mind the main goals of updating the audience on the ongoing projects and explaining the reasons behind fundraising. When discussing the frequency of utilization of email marketing for fundraising specifically, several representatives stated that they only use it "when the organization is in need of financial support but not on a constant reoccurring basis" (Int 1).

Finally, it is vital to highlight another trend that consistently appeared across all the interviews: a shortage of resources. Whether it manifested as a lack of time, an absence of trained personnel,

or other resource constraints, the impact influenced significantly the effective utilization and monitoring of email marketing strategies. These unexpected results underscored the challenges faced by ENGOs in optimizing their email marketing efforts, showing the complexity of the marketing process with the goal of fundraising. Apparently, a significant number of these organizations do not consistently allocate resources to email marketing; instead, they "address such needs on an occuring basis" (Int\_1), responding to the needs of the moment rather than implementing a proactive and regular approach. This finding underscores a potential area for improvement in organizational communication strategies within the ENGO sector, suggesting the importance of allocating resources for email utilization as a standard practice rather than a reactive measure.

#### 3.2. Discussion and recommendations

Email marketing can potentially play an important role in supporting the fundraising efforts of ENGOs when employed thoughtfully. Email marketing offers a lot of opportunities for ENGOs to connect with their audience, foster engagement, raise awareness and prompt financial support. By precise targeting, ENGOs can tailor their email campaigns to resonate with specific segments of their audience. Understanding the different interests, concerns, values and motivations of their supporters allows organizations to create personalized messages that produce a deeper connection. This personalized approach can not only enhance the overall donor experience but also increase the likelihood of successful fundraising. These findings resonate with two components of the advertising value model - entertainment and informativeness which on their end, have a positive influence on the perception of the advertisement or email from the receivers' point of view.

Simplifying the donation process from the user's point of view is equally critical in optimizing the efficacy of email marketing for fundraising. The technology acceptance model used to develop the interview questions also related the perceived ease of use of technology to the motivation of people when using a certain technology. A complicated donation process can act as a barrier, resulting in potential donors abandoning their contributions midway. ENGOs can utilize email marketing to simplify this process, providing clear instructions, user-friendly interfaces, and convenient payment options.

Based on the findings and the analysis of the results, a list of recommendations can be created to support ENGOs that are willing to start utilizing email marketing for fundraising or improve their existing strategies:

- 1. Divide your audience into different segments (for example, other ENGOs, business companies, educational institutions, locals etc.) and create content that would resonate with the interests and values of each segment specifically.
- Utilize online tools to create the emails by using available templates. One of the examples of the websites is MailChimp (<u>https://mailchimp.com/</u>) that allows not only to create visually appealing emails but also provides statistical data regarding the email performance.
- Implement personal stories, comparison pictures, videos and eye-catching infographics to grasp the attention of the audience. With the visual elements, try to show what impact can be done with the support of donations.
- 4. Ensure the clarity of the donation process and provide clear instructions for potential donors. The process should involve as few steps as possible and each step needs to be understandable from the donor's point of view.
- 5. Confirm the correctness of all attachments and links provided in the email. Testing the email on different devices is also beneficial since the audience utilizes various devices and the content might not be displayed identically correctly across a wide range of technological devices.
- 6. Act according to available resources and recognize the necessaty to adjust the email marketing strategy if necessary. Planning ahead of time and allocating resources can eventually lead to a desired outcome and not only increase the visibility but also increase the amount of raised funds.
- 7. State the ENGO's missions and goals very clearly and share that by backing the ENGO's initiatives, individuals and communities actively participate in the joint responsibility of addressing environmental challenges and play a key role in improving the future of the planet.

Since no similar research has been previously conducted to establish a connection between email marketing and ENGOs, the absence of comparative data makes the findings of this thesis particularly valuable for ENGOs engaged in fundraising for various causes. Especially considering the unique characteristics of ENGOs of relying on societal support and operating for

a great cause of saving the environment around, ENGOs have the opportunity to leverage the insights and recommendations provided, incorporating these findings into their upcoming email marketing strategies to increase their outreach and get more support. By integrating the suggestions, ENGOs can enhance the effectiveness and impact of their communication efforts, facilitating stronger connections with their audience and increasing their willingness to give financial contributions, which on its end will support a greater cause of preserving the nature and making the world more sustainably conscious.

These research findings can also be extended to other non-governmental organizations (NGOs) actively engaged in fundraising attempts. The similarities in the operating and fundraising processes make the findings applicable across a broader spectrum, offering support for NGOs seeking to optimize their fundraising strategies. However, the applicability and effectiveness of these findings may vary based on the context and challenges faced by each NGO, highlighting the necessity for a specific and tailored approach to different fundraising approaches.

# CONCLUSION

The aim of the research was to explore the role of email marketing in fundraising for ENGOs with a focus on elements that contribute towards successful email marketing strategies. Furthermore, this thesis aimed to research the approaches and methods to maximize the impact of these identified elements, with the result of improving the overall effectiveness of email marketing campaigns within fundraising for environmental causes.

In response to research question 1, first part of which explored the elements contributing to the effectiveness of ENGOs' email marketing campaigns, it was found that the success of email campaigns in fundraising depends on a combination of factors and elements that are included in the email. Among these elements are the visuals, comprising pictures and persuasive videos, which serve as tools for capturing the audience's attention. Additionally, the inclusion of personal stories is vital in increasing the engagement levels of potential donors. Last but not least, providing transparent and clear insights into how funds are allocated increases trust and confidence among recipients, as they appreciate a clear understanding of where their contributions are directed. The second part of the first research question explored the elements that could be disruptive for the email marketing campaigns and they turned out to be working attachments, misplaced links to donation pages and lack of audience segmentation that causes large numbers of unsubscriptions.

Regarding research question 2, which looked at the ways to maximize the advantages of email marketing campaigns in ENGOs, it was found that it appears to be a long and uneasy process, primarily restricted by insufficient resources. Despite these constraints, a strategic approach through targeting and segmentation of the audience emerges as a potential solution for ENGOs aiming to optimize their outreach efforts. By tailoring content to resonate with distinct segments, ENGOs can unlock the full potential of email marketing, fostering higher engagement and donations. The other finding regarding maximization of the email marketing effectiveness in fundraising was related to creating a user-friendly donation process. By offering clear

instructions, user-friendly interfaces, and a variety of convenient payment options, ENGOs can enhance the overall donor experience and increase the likelihood of successful contributions.

Finally, email marketing for fundraising holds great potential and, if utilized properly, could bring a lot of benefits to ENGOs. As technology continues to advance and communication channels evolve, operating with the help of email marketing could expand the outreach of organizations, promoting meaningful connections with their audience, and effectively conveying their need for fundraising. By harnessing the power of targeted email campaigns, ENGOs can not only intensify their message but also create a dedicated community of supporters who are engaged and informed. However, taking into account the different resources and unique characteristics of each ENGO is crucial when applying the results of the research. It is essential to recognize and factor the diverse capabilities and qualities of each ENGO in order to effectively leverage the findings in a manner that aligns with their unique strengths and characteristics.

It is also crucial to acknowledge the limitations existent in this research. The research method itself carries the risk of bias due to the small size of the research sample. The limited number of participants might have impacted the results, emphasizing the need for cautious interpretation. Furthermore, the time of establishment of the (ENGOs participating in the research was not taken into consideration. Some ENGOs were founded prior to the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, while others were established later. This difference could evoke certain limitations, especially considering that those in operation before the pandemic may have already established familiarity within local communities and gained their audience. While the findings extracted from this research offer valuable insights into the subject matter, it is important to view them carefully taking into account these limitations.

In exploring the future paths of study within this discipline, there exists the potential to research different dimensions while keeping a central focus on ENGOs. One possible way involves an in-depth investigation of the correlations between different marketing types and various fundraising methods. For instance, a comparative analysis could be undertaken to analyse the role of e-marketing on the effectiveness of fundraising techniques, such as contrasting the impact of email marketing against that of social media marketing strategies within the context of ENGOs. An alternative approach to studying this subject involves conducting another comprehensive study, but instead of solely concentrating on local ENGOs, a broader research

scope could be utilised. This would entail extending this scope to include international ENGOs, thereby examining the impact of email marketing on a global scale.

And, lastly, it is important to highlight that the findings from this research are not confined to just one type of organisation. Such research can be employed with other NGOs, such as those dedicated to youth development or human rights advocacy. Furthermore, the applicability of this research expands beyond the non-profit sector; businesses and various companies could also use similar techniques to assess the impact of email marketing strategies within their operations. The adaptability of the research opens up opportunities for cross-sector collaboration and the exploration of the broader implications of effective marketing strategies.

## LIST OF REFERENCES

- Abiddin, N. Z. (2022). Non-Governmental Organisations and Sustainable Community Development. Encyclopedia. Retrieved October 15, 2023, https://encyclopedia.pub/entry/21661
- Adams, A., & Cox, A. L. (2008). Questionnaires, in-depth interviews and focus groups. In P. Cairns & A. L. Cox (Eds.), *Research Methods for Human Computer Interaction* (pp. 17–34). Cambridge University Press.
- Amagoh, F. (2015). Improving the credibility and effectiveness of non-governmental organizations. *Progress in Development Studies*, 15(3), 221-239. https://doi.org/10.1177/1464993415578979
- Aydoğan, S., Aktan, M., & Aysuna, C. (2016). Web Advertising Value and Students' Attitude Towards Web Advertising. *Revista Brasileira de Gestao de Negocios*, 8, 86-97.
- Berny, N., & Rootes, C. (2018). Environmental NGOs at a crossroads? *Environmental Politics*, 27(6), 947-972. DOI: 10.1080/09644016.2018.1536293
- Betsill, M. M., & Corell, E. (2008). Introduction to NGO Diplomacy. In W. W. Powell & R. Steinberg (Eds.), Ngo diplomacy: The Influence of Nongovernmental Organizations in International Environmental Negotiations (pp. 66-88). MIT Press.
- Bolos, C., Idemudia, E. C., Mai, P., Rasinghani, M., & Smith, S. (2016). Conceptual Models on the Effectiveness of E-Marketing Strategies in Engaging Consumers. *Journal of International Technology and Information Management*, 25(4), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.58729/1941-6679.129
- Boris, E. T., & Steuerle, C. E. (2006). Scope and dimensions of the nonprofit sector. In W.Powell & R. Steinberg (Eds.), *The nonprofit sector: A research handbook* (pp. 66-88).Yale University Press.
- Brackett, L. K., & Carr, B. N. (2001). Cyberspace advertising vs. other media: Consumer vs. mature student attitudes. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 41(5), 23-32.
- Boyce, C., & Neale, P. (2006). Conducting In-Depth Interviews: A Guide for Designing and Conducting In-Depth Interviews for Evaluation Input. *Pathfinder International Tool Series, Monitoring and Evaluation-2*.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches (4th ed.). SAGE Publications, Inc.

- Cutlip, S. (1965). Donorbox: A Guide to Different Types of Fundraising: Pros and Cons. In Fundraising in the United States, its role in America's philanthropy. Essay. Rutgers University Press.
- Davis, F.D. (1986). A technology acceptance model for empirically testing new end-user information systems: Theory and results. Doctoral dissertation. MIT Sloan School of Management, Cambridge, MA.
- Davis, F.D. (1989). Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. *MIS Quarterly*, 13(3), 319–339.
- Diduh, A. (2022). *Ideas for fundraising emails that drive donations*. Stripo.Email. Retrieved October 25, 2023, from https://stripo.email/blog/ideas-for-fundraising-emails-that-drive-donations/
- Dsouza, A., & Panakaje, N. (2023). A Study on the Evolution of Digital Marketing. International Journal of Case Studies in Business, IT, and Education (IJCSBE), 7(1), 95-106. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7607574
- Ducoffe, R. H. (1995). How Consumers Assess the Value of Advertising. *Journal of Current Issues and Research in Advertising*, 17(1), 1–18.
- Ducoffe, R. H. (1996). Advertising Value and Advertising on the Web. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 36(5), 21–35.
- Environment, U. (n.d.). *Funding and partnerships*. UNEP. Retrieved November 4, 2023, from https://www.unep.org/about-un-environment-programme/funding-and-partnerships
- Funding for non-governmental organizations: Jacinto Convit World Organization. (2022, October 2). Retrieved October 15, 2023 from https://www.jacintoconvit.org/social-science-series-7-fundraising-for-non-governmental -organizations/
- Gaber, H. R., & Wright, L. T. (2014). Fast-food advertising in social media. A case study on Facebook in Egypt. *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research*, 9(1).
- Gangadharbatla, H., & Daugherty, T. (2013). Advertising Versus Product Placements: How Consumers Assess the Value of Each. *Journal of Current Issues in Research & Advertising*, 34, 21-38. https://doi.org/10.1080/10641734.2013.754706.
- Gefen, D., & Straub, D. W. (1997). Gender Differences in the Perception and Use of E-Mail: An Extension to the Technology Acceptance Model. *MIS Quarterly*, 21(4), 389–400. https://doi.org/10.2307/249720
- Gustavsen, A. (2023). *What are the 8 types of digital marketing?* Southern New Hampshire University. Retrieved November 18, 2023, from https://www.snhu.edu/about-us/newsroom/business/types-of-digital-marketing

- Hartemo, M. (2016). Email marketing in the era of the empowered consumer. Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing, 10, 212–230. https://doi.org/10.1108/JRIM-06-2015-0040
- Huang, L. J., Lu, M. T., & Wong, B. K. (2003). The impact of power distance on Email acceptance: evidence from the PRC. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 44(1), 93–101.
- Hudák, M., Kianičková, E., & Madleňák, R. (2017). The Importance of E-mail Marketing in E-commerce. *Procedia Engineering*, 192, 342-347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.06.059
- Hussain, A., Ting, D. H., & Mazhar, M. (2022). Driving Consumer Value Co-creation and Purchase Intention by Social Media Advertising Value. *Frontiers in psychology*, 13, 800206. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.800206
- Indeed Editorial Team. (2022). *Different types of NGOs (with definition and functions)*. Indeed. Retrieved September 18, 2023, from https://in.indeed.com/career-advice/career-development/types-of-ngo
- Jasper, L. (2022, October 7). *E-marketing definition, types, features, Pros & Cons*. Temok Hosting Blog. Retrieved November 5, 2023 from https://www.temok.com/blog/e-marketing/
- JR Compliance Editorial Team. (2023). *NGO organizational structure: NGO registration online: Section 8 company*. JR Compliance. Retrieved October 15, 2023 from https://blogs.jrcompliance.com/posts/ngo-organizational-structure-section-8-company#g oogle\_vignette
- Kumar, V., Saini, M., & Kumar, P. (2014). Social Marketing and Consumer Awareness of NGOs Activities. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management*, 16(6), 34–36. https://doi.org/10.9790/487x-16643436
- Martins, J., Costa, C., Oliveira, T., Gonçalves, R., & Branco, F. (2019). How smartphone advertising influences consumers' purchase intention. *Journal of Business Research*, 94, 378–387.
- Marangunić, N., & Granić, A. (2015). Technology acceptance model: a literature review from 1986 to 2013. *Universal Access in the Information Society*, 14, 81–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-014-0348-1
- Mount, L. (2022). "Funding does something to people": NGOs navigating funding challenges in India. *Development in Practice*, (pp. 69-81).
- Murillo, E., Merino, M., & Alfaro, A. (2016). The advertising value of Twitter Ads: a study among Mexican Millennials. *Revista Brasileira de Gestao de Negocios*, 18, 10.7819/rbgn.v18i61.2471.

- Páramo, A. L. J., Hernández, A. G., & Chaparro, J. P. (2021). Modelling e-mail marketing effectiveness – An approach based on the theory of hierarchy-of-effects. *Cuadernos de Gestión*, 21(1), 19-27. DOI: 10.5295/cdg.191094ah
- Partelow, S., Winkler, K. J., & Thaler, G. M. (2020). Environmental non-governmental organizations and global environmental discourse. *PloS One*, 15(5), e0232945. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232945
- Princen, T., & Finger, M. (1994). Introduction. *Environmental NGOs in World Politics: Linking the Local and the Global*. Routledge.
- Radicati. (2022). *Email statistics report, 2022-2026*. Retrieved October 15, 2023 from https://www.radicati.com/wp/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/Email-Statistics-Report-2022 -2026-Executive-Summary.pdf
- Robinson, D. (2023, June 24). *The biggest environmental problems of 2023*. Earth.Org. Retrieved September 24, 2023 from https://earth.org/the-biggest-environmental-problems-of-our-lifetime/#:~:text=Increased %20emissions%20of%20greenhouse%20gases,across%20parts%20of%20Africa%2C% 20thE
- Scott, G. (2022). *Conversion rate: What it means, examples*. Investopedia. Retrieved October 15, 2023 from https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/conversion-rate.asp
- Sharp, J.H. (2007). Development, extension, and application: A review of the technology acceptance model. *Information Systems Education Journal*, 5(9), 1–11.
- Shimp, T. A. (1981). Attitude Toward the Ad as a Mediator of Consumer Brand Choice. *Journal* of Advertising Research, 10(2), 9–48.
- Showkat, N., & Parveen, H. (2017). In-depth Interview. Media & Communication Studies, *e-PG* Pathshala (UGC & MHRD).
- Smart, K., & Cappel, J. (2003). Assessing the response to and success of email marketing promotions. *Issues in Information Systems*, 4(1), 309-315. https://www.temok.com/blog/e-marketing/
- Statista Search Department (2023a). Number of internet users worldwide from 2013 to 2028 in millions. Statista. Retrieved October 15, 2023 from https://www.statista.com/statistics/617136/digital-population-worldwide/
- Statista Search Department (2021, April). *E-mail marketing revenue worldwide from 2020 to 2027 in billion U.S. dollars*. Statista. Retrieved October 15, 2023 from https://www.statista.com/statistics/812060/email-marketing-revenue-worldwide/
- Statista Search Department (2023b). *Daily number of spam emails sent worldwide as of January 2023, by country in billions*. Statista. Retrieved October 15, 2023 from https://www.statista.com/statistics/1270488/spam-emails-sent-daily-by-country/

- Thomas, J. S., Chen, C., & Iacobucci, D. (2022). Email Marketing as a Tool for Strategic Persuasion. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 57(3), 377–392. https://doi.org/10.1177/10949968221095552
- Weinger, A. (2023, September 26). *14 fundraising letters & templates to inspire more support*. Double the Donation. Retrieved November 24, 2023 from https://doublethedonation.com/fundraising-letters/
- Willetts, P. (2009). Non-Governmental Organizations. *Conventions, Treaties And Other Responses To Global Issues*, (vol. II), (pp. 229–246). EOLSS Publications.
- Wisetsri, Worakamol & Mangalasserri, Krishnabhaskar & Pio, Luigi & Cavaliere, Luigi Pio Leonardo & Mittal, Praveen & Chakravarthi, Kalyan & Koti, Kartikey & Gupta, Ashish & Rajest, Suman & Rajan, Regin. (2021). The Impact of Marketing Practices on NGO Performance: The Pestel Model Effect. *Turkish Online Journal of Qualitative Inquiry*. 12. 2884-2903.

# APPENDICES

Date	Number of the ENGO	Position of the interviewee	Country
30th of November	ENGO 1	Volunteer	Hungary
4th of December	ENGO 2	Project Manager	Malta
3rd of December	ENGO 3	Project Manager	Malta
11th of December	ENGO 4	Erasmus+ project manager	Italy
14th of December	ENGO 5	Volunteer	Lithuania
18th of December	ENGO 6	President	Spain

# Appendix 1. List of interviews

# Appendix 2. Interview questions

A1	Date and place of the interview		
A2	Name of Interviewee:		
A3	Name of ENGO:		
A4	Position of the interviewee:		
A5	Location of operations of the ENGO:		
A6	Target areas and main goals of the ENGO:		
A7	Target groups and ENGO's main scope of audience		

# Section A: General information

## Section B:

B1	RQ1	Does your organisation have an email marketing strategy? If so, then which one?	
B2	RQ1	What are the main goals you are trying to achieve when using email marketing in your organisation?	
B3	RQ1	How often does your ENGO use email marketing for fundraising?	
B4	RQ1	Could you give me an example of a campaign or a cause when your ENGO used email marketing for fundraising?	
В5	RQ1	How do you track the performance of email marketing?	
B6	RQ1	How do you track the performance of the fundraising?	
B7	RQ2	What pieces of information do you usually put in the fundraising email? For example, pictures/videos, personal stories etc	Advertising value model - Informativeness
B8	RQ2	How often do you send fundraising emails to a certain recipient?	Advertising value model - irritability
B9	RQ2	Have you noticed any spikes in the amount of cancelled subscriptions after sending out the fundraising emails?	Advertising value model - irritability
B10	RQ2	Have you noticed that some types of emails are more successful in fundraising performance than others? If so,	Advertising value model

		-	
		what do you think caused it?	
B11	RQ2	Have you been sending out the generic emails to all recipients or have you been trying to also personalise them? If so, then how were the emails personalised?	Advertising value model
B12	RQ1	When creating a campaign, how do you approach the design of the email? Do you use any visual stimuli to increase the entertaining value?	Advertising value model - entertainment
B13	RQ2	Regarding the fundraising activities, how do you gather the funds? Direct payments through the link in the emails or are there more steps in this process?	Technology acceptance model
B14	RQ2	Have you faced any technological issues that directly impacted the fundraising process? If so, what were those issues?	Technology acceptance model
B15	RQ2	Do you pay attention to simplification of the emails for easier use from the recipients' side?	Technology acceptance model
B16	RQ2	Have you faced an issue of recipients not opening the emails? When and in which context did it occur?	Technology acceptance model
B17	RQ1	If another ENGO was about to start an email marketing campaign for fundraising, what advice would you give to the marketing representatives of this ENGO?	

# **Appendix 3: Interview transcripts**

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1W4dJqpoRpJ9PxbmE2K1o2OyUVldRjpI-d5qyPuc25kQ/e dit?usp=sharing

### Appendix 4. Non-exclusive licence

#### A non-exclusive licence for reproduction and publication of a graduation thesis<sup>1</sup>

I, Ksenija Akimova,

1. Grant Tallinn University of Technology free licence (non-exclusive licence) for my thesis The role of email marketing in fundraising for environmental non-governmental organizations supervised by Merle Küttim,

1.1 to be reproduced for the purposes of preservation and electronic publication of the graduation thesis, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright;

1.2 to be published via the web of Tallinn University of Technology, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright.

2. I am aware that the author also retains the rights specified in clause 1 of the non-exclusive licence.

3. I confirm that granting the non-exclusive licence does not infringe other persons' intellectual property rights, the rights arising from the Personal Data Protection Act or rights arising from other legislation.

04.12.2023

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The non-exclusive licence is not valid during the validity of access restriction indicated in the student's application for restriction on access to the graduation thesis that has been signed by the school's dean, except in case of the university's right to reproduce the thesis for preservation purposes only. If a graduation thesis is based on the joint creative activity of two or more persons and the co-author(s) has/have not granted, by the set deadline, the student defending his/her graduation thesis consent to reproduce and publish the graduation thesis in compliance with clauses 1.1 and 1.2 of the non-exclusive licence, the non-exclusive license shall not be valid for the period